



City of Tacoma Tacoma Public Utilities/Directors Office

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS DU22-0210F Ten Year Management Review

Submittal Deadline: 11:00 a.m., Pacific Time, Tuesday, October 25, 2022

Submittals must be received by the City's Procurement and Payables Division prior to 11:00 a.m. Pacific Time. For electronic submittals, the City of Tacoma will designate the time of receipt recorded by our email, bids@cityoftacoma.org, as the official time of receipt. This clock will be used as the official time of receipt of all parts of electronic bid submittals.

Submittal Delivery: Sealed submittals will be received as follows:

By Email:

bids@citvoftacoma.org

Maximum file size: 35 MB. Multiple emails may be sent for each submittal.

In Person:

If possible, please include a flash drive of your full submittal.

City of Tacoma Procurement & Payables Division Tacoma Public Utilities Administration Building North Guard House (east side of main building) 3628 S 35th Street Tacoma, WA 98409

Bid Opening: Held virtually each Tuesday at 11AM. Attend <u>via this link</u> or call 1 (253) 215 8782. Submittals in response to a RFP will be recorded as received. As soon as possible, after 1:00 PM, on the day of submittal deadline, preliminary results will be posted to <u>www.TacomaPurchasing.org</u>.

Solicitation Documents: An electronic copy of the complete solicitation documents may be viewed and obtained by accessing the City of Tacoma Purchasing website at www.TacomaPurchasing.org.

- Register for the Bid Holders List to receive notices of addenda, questions and answers and related updates.
- Click here to see a list of vendors registered for this solicitation.

Pre-Proposal Meeting: A pre-proposal meeting will not be held.

Project Scope: The consultant will conduct a comprehensive review of the management and operation of Tacoma Public Utilities (TPU), as required by Tacoma City Charter 4.15. The consultant will evaluate, report on, and make recommendations regarding the following items for each of TPU's three operating units (Power, Water, Rail), and for the Customer Service unit.

Submittals submitted and/or the selected Consultant(s) may be used for projects of similar type and scope at the sole discretion of the City for up to one year.

Estimate: \$300,000

Paid Sick Leave: The City of Tacoma requires all employers to provide paid sick leave as set forth in Title 18 of the Tacoma Municipal Code. For more information, visit <u>our Minimum Employment Standards Paid Sick Leave webpage</u>.

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA Information: The City of Tacoma, in accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (Section 504) and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), commits to nondiscrimination on the basis of disability, in all of its programs and activities. Specification materials can be made available in an alternate format by emailing Gail Himes at ghimes@cityoftacoma.org, or by calling her collect at 253-591-5785.

Form No. SPEC-040C Revised: 07/11/2022

Title VI Information:

"The City of Tacoma" in accordance with provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, (78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C. sections 2000d to 2000d-4) and the Regulations, hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be afforded full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, national origin in consideration of award.

Additional Information: Requests for information regarding the specifications may be obtained by contacting Erica Pierce, Senior Buyer by email to epierce@cityoftacoma.org

Protest Policy: City of Tacoma <u>protest policy</u>, located at <u>www.tacomapurchasing.org</u>, specifies procedures for protests submitted prior to and after submittal deadline.



Meeting sites are accessible to persons with disabilities. Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities can be arranged with 48 hours advance notice by calling 253-502-8468.

Form No. SPEC-040C Revised: 07/11/2022

Table of Contents

SUI	BMITTAL CHECK LIST	5
1.	BACKGROUND	6
2.	STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS	6
3.	MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS	6
4.	SUMMARY OF SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES	6
5.	ANTICIPATED CONTRACT TERM	6
6.	CALENDAR OF EVENTS	6
7.	PRE-PROPOSAL MEETING	7
8.	INQUIRIES	7
9.	SCOPE OF WORK	7
10.	DISCLAIMER	8
11.	EVALUATION CRITERIA	8
12.	RESPONSIVENESS	9
13. crite	CONTENT TO BE SUBMITTED – This section represents 100% of the possible scorieria	_
14.	CITY'S RESERVED RIGHTS	10
15.	INTERVIEWS / ORAL PRESENTATIONS	11
16.	CONTRACT OBLIGATION	11
17.	FORM OF CONTRACT	11
18.	INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS	12
19.	PAID LEAVE	12
20.	PARTNERSHIPS	12
21.	COMMITMENT OF FIRM KEY PERSONNEL	12
22.	AWARD	12
23.	ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERABLE PROCUREMENT	13
24.	EQUITY IN CONTRACTING	13
25.	PROPRIETARY OR CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION	13
26.	ADDENDUMS	13
API	PENDIX A – REQUIRED FORMS	14
ΔРΙ	PENDIX B – INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS	17

SUBMITTAL CHECK LIST

This checklist identifies items to be included with your submittal. Any submittal received without these required items may be deemed non-responsive and not be considered for award.

Submittals must be received by the City of Tacoma Purchasing Division by the date and time specified in the Request for Proposal page.

The following items make up your submittal package:	V
One electronic copy (USB flash drive if in-person delivery) or email of your complete submittal package	
Signature Page (Appendix A)	
Client References Form (Appendix A)	
Information in Section 13 (13.1 – 13.8)	
After award, the following documents will be executed and provided:	
Contract	
Certificate of Insurance and related endorsements if required	

1. BACKGROUND

The consultant will conduct a comprehensive review of the management and operation of Tacoma Public Utilities (TPU), as required by <u>Tacoma City Charter 4.15</u>. The consultant will evaluate, report on, and make recommendations regarding the following items for each of TPU's three operating units (Power, Water, Rail), and for the Customer Service unit. Submittals submitted and/or the selected Consultant(s) may be used for projects of similar type and scope at the sole discretion of the City for up to one year.

2. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

City of Tacoma Standard Terms and Conditions apply.

3. MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS

Must have a minimum experience of three (3) similar or related consulting work provided to other municipalities and public utilities of equivalent size and operation.

Must have experience writing and presenting reports to governing agencies.

4. SUMMARY OF SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES

It is the City of Tacoma's (City) intent to select a consultant based on qualifications and abilities of the firm and key project individuals.

The consultant will conduct a comprehensive review of the management and operation of Tacoma Public Utilities (TPU) and produce a written report based on their findings and analyses. Please see Section 9 for the full scope of work.

5. ANTICIPATED CONTRACT TERM

The anticipated duration of the contract is for a one-year period with the City's sole option to renew for additional periods as applicable.

6. CALENDAR OF EVENTS

This is a tentative schedule only and may be altered at the sole discretion of the City.

Contract may be issued after Public Utility Board and/or City Council approval.

The anticipated schedule of events concerning this RFP is as follows:

Publish and issue RFP:	10/3/2022
Pre-Submittal Questions:	10/10/2022
Response to Questions:	10/17/2022
Submittal Due Date:	10/25/2022
Submittal Evaluated, on or about:	10/31/2022
Interviews/Presentations, on or about:	11/14/2022
Award Recommendation, on or about:	12/8/2022

7. PRE-PROPOSAL MEETING

7.1 No pre-proposal meeting will be held; however, questions and request for clarifications of the specifications may be submitted as stated in the inquiries section.

8. INQUIRIES

8.1 Questions should be submitted by 8am on Monday, October 10th to Erica Pierce via email to EPierce@cityoftacoma.org. Subject line to read:

DU22-0210F – TEN YEAR MANAGEMENT REVIEW - VENDOR NAME

- **8.2** Questions marked confidential will not be answered or included.
- **8.3** The City reserves the discretion to group similar questions to provide a single answer or not to respond when the requested information is confidential.
- **8.4** The answers are not typically considered an addendum.
- **8.5** The City will not be responsible for unsuccessful submittal of questions.
- **8.6** Written answers to questions will be posted in the event approximately one week after the question deadline.

9. SCOPE OF WORK

The consultant will conduct a comprehensive review of the management and operation of Tacoma Public Utilities (TPU), as required by Tacoma City Charter 4.15. The consultant will evaluate, report on, and make recommendations regarding the following items for each of TPU's three operating units (Power, Water, Rail), and for the Customer Service unit.

- Strategic and business plans
- Financial and rate policies, practices, and financial condition
 - o Financial reserve policies
 - Bond rating considerations
- Rate Policies
- Organizational effectiveness
- Management practices
- Human Resource practices
 - Compensation philosophy, policy, governance, and affirm framework for appropriate and relevant utility market-pay comparators
 - Employee compensation, recruitment and retention
- Shared and contracted support services
 - Cost effectiveness of consolidated services with General Government
 - Allocation methodologies including basis for formulas and surplus funds
- Governance structure and processes

 Review Board strategic directives, government practices, and Board-Director linkage framework

The consultant will obtain the information necessary for this review primarily through review of documents, review of prior management reviews, and interviews. Interviews are expected to include those responsible for governance, TPU management, and TPU and General Government staff. The consultant may consider the use of focus groups to gain external stakeholder input. The review will compare the in-scope areas of industry norms and comparable utilities. A small group of TPU and General Government staff has been assigned to assist the consultant with information gathering.

The Tacoma City Charter provides as follows:

Section 4.15: The Board shall have authority to secure the services of consulting engineers, accountants, special counsel, and other experts. At intervals not exceeding ten years the Council shall, at the expense of the utilities involved, cause a general management survey to be made of all utilities under the jurisdiction of the board by a competent management consulting or industrial engineering firm, the report and recommendations of which shall be made public; provided, that the first such survey shall be made within three years of the effective date of this charter.

10. DISCLAIMER

The City is not liable for any costs incurred by the Respondent for the preparation of materials or a submittal submitted in response to this RFP, for conducting any presentations to the City, or any other activities related to responding to this RFP, or related to the contract negotiation process.

11. EVALUATION CRITERIA

A Selection Advisory Committee (SAC) will review and evaluate submittals. After the evaluation, the SAC may conduct interviews of the most qualified Respondents before final selection.

- **11.1** The SAC may select one or more respondent to provide the services required.
- **11.2** The SAC may use references to clarify information in the submittals and interviews, if conducted, which may affect the rating. The City reserves the right to contact references other than those included in the submittal.

The relative weight of each scoring criteria is indicated in the table below.

Criteria	Max Points
Qualifications/Experience of Respondent (Firm) and Key Personnel	30
relevant to industries being reviewed (Power/Water/Rail)	
Examples of Projects	15
Client References	10
Fees and Charges / Method of Billing / Hourly Rates	10
Project Approach	25
Sustainability	5
Equity in Contracting	5
Contract Exceptions	0
Total	100

12. RESPONSIVENESS

Respondents agree their submittal is valid until a contract(s) has been executed.

All submittals will be reviewed by the City to determine compliance with the requirements and instructions specified in this RFP. The Respondent is specifically notified that failure to comply with any part of this RFP may result in rejection of the submittal as non-responsive. The City reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to waive irregularities deemed immaterial.

The final selection, if any, will be that submittal which, after review of submissions and potential interviews, in the sole judgement of the City, best meets the requirements set forth in this RFP.

13. CONTENT TO BE SUBMITTED – This section represents 100% of the possible scoring criteria.

Respondents are to provide complete and detailed responses to all items below. Submittals that are incomplete or conditioned in any way that contain alternatives or items not called for in this RFP, which materially deviate from the requirements of this RFP or which are not in conformity with law, may be rejected as being non-responsive.

Submittals should present information in a straightforward and concise manner, while ensuring complete and detailed descriptions of the Respondent's abilities to meet the requirement of this RFP. Emphasis will be on completeness of content. The written submittals should be prepared in the sequential order as outlined below.

The City reserves the right to request clarification of any aspect of a submittal, or request additional information that might be required to properly evaluate the submittal. Failure to respond to such a request may result in rejection of the firm's submittal. Respondents are required to provide responses to any request clarification within two (2) business days.

Requests for clarification or additional information shall be made at the sole discretion of the City. The City's retention of this right shall no way diminish a Respondent's responsibility to submit a submittal that is current, clear, complete and accurate.

13.1 Qualifications/Experience of Respondent (Firm) and Key Personnel relevant to industries being reviewed (Power/Water/Rail) – 30 points

Describe Respondent's ability to provide the project, services or deliverables described in this RFP, specifically relating to the Scope of Work in Appendix B. Examples of projects that do not relate to this scope of work may not be considered in the review process. List key personnel that will handle the project. The personnel listed must be committed to this project for the expected term of the contract. Include a brief bio or resume outlining the experience of the key personnel that will be involved including their specific experience with this scope of work.

13.2 Examples of Projects – 15 points

Describe three projects similar in scope and complexity to this project's scope of work.

13.3 Client References – 10 points

Provide three client references of projects of similar type and size. The references must have worked with the firm within the last three (3) years. The Proposed Project Manager for this project must have been a key team member for at least two (2) of the provided references.

Provide complete information such as name of company, contact person, address, phone number, and email address. Please use form in Appendix A.

13.4 Fees and Charges / Method of Billing / Hourly Rates – 10 points

Provide the method of billing and hourly rates. Please provide an outline of the projected project budget and pricing for each area of review.

13.5 Project Approach – 25 points

Please describe how you will plan, perform, and report on the project as described in the scope of work. Include the firms approach to staffing, schedule management, internal and external stakeholder management, etc. List key personnel that will handle the project and the role that each will play.

13.6 Sustainability – 5 points

Provide information on your commitment to the environment. Include your sustainability statement and current practices. Points are awarded in full for firms that submit this information.

13.7 Equity in Contracting – 5 points

Is Respondent, or the any entity Respondent is partnering with, certified with Washington State for any of the below categories (select all that apply)? Selecting any item below will award all points for this category.

□ Combination Business Enterprise (CBE)
☐ Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE)
☐ Minority Business Enterprise (MBE)
☐ Minority/Women Business Enterprise (MWBE)
□ Small Business Enterprise (SBE)
☐ Socially and Economically Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (SEDBE)
☐ Women Business Enterprise (WBE)

13.8 Exceptions – 0 points

If Respondent takes exception to any of the City of Tacoma's Standard Terms and Conditions stated herein or to any other part of this specifications, including the stated Insurance Requirements, they must identify the section and page that is the subject of the exception, specify the nature of the exception and, if applicable, provide proposed replacement language or proposed replacement form of Contract. Acceptance of any proposed changes are at the sole discretion of the City.

14. CITY'S RESERVED RIGHTS

Respondents are advised that the City reserves the right to cancel any award at any time prior to mutual execution of a Contract if cancellation is deemed to be in the City's best interest. City is not liable to Respondent for any costs or damages for the cancellation of an award. The

Respondent assumes the sole risk and responsibility for all expenses connected with the preparation of this submittal.

In addition to any reserved rights contained in the City of Tacoma Standard Terms and Conditions, City specifically reserves the following rights:

- To waive any or all informalities or irregularities in any submittal which, in City's sole judgement, are deemed minor or immaterial
- To award one or more contracts
- To not award a contract
- To issue subsequent solicitation

15. INTERVIEWS / ORAL PRESENTATIONS

An invitation to interview may be extended to Respondents based on SAC review of the written submittals. The SAC reserves the right to adjust scoring based on additional information and/or clarifications provided during interviews. The SAC may determine additional scoring criteria for the interviews following evaluation of written submittals.

The City reserves all rights to begin contract negotiations without conducting interviews.

Respondents must be available to interview within three business days notice.

If interviews are conducted, the SAC will schedule the interviews using the email address for communications provided on the signature page. Additional interview information will be provided at the time of invitation. At this time, it is anticipated that the main objective of the interview will be for the SAC to meet the project manager and key personnel that will have direct involvement with the project and hear about their relevant experience and expertise. The City does not intend to meet with firm officials unless they are to be directly involved with the project.

The relative weight of each Part 2 criterion is indicated in the table below.

Criteria	Max Points
Presentation by finalist	50
Interview / Questions and Answers	50
Total	100

16. CONTRACT OBLIGATION

The selected Respondent(s) will be expected to execute a Contract with the City. At a minimum, any contract will incorporate the contents of this specification, including all stated services or deliverables and other requirements and the City of Tacoma Standard Terms and Conditions, together with the contents of Respondent's submittal. The submittal contents of the successful Respondent will become contractual obligations.

17. FORM OF CONTRACT

In event the City's Services Contract or other City Contract template is attached to this RFP as a sample form of Contract, the City expects to utilize the Terms and Conditions contained in the sample form of Contract. Post award negotiation may occur at the discretion of the City. Respondents should clearly state exceptions to City's Standard Terms and Conditions as well

as to the Terms and Conditions contained in any attached sample form of Contract and to any other portions of this RFP, including the stated Insurance Requirements. Respondents may also propose to utilize their own form of Contract and in such instances, Respondent must provide its form of Contract as part of its submittal. City, at its sole option, will decide whether engage in negation on any or all proposed exceptions. City reserves sole discretion to determine the final form of Contract that will be used.

18. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

Successful proposer will provide proof of and maintain the insurance coverage in the amounts and in the manner specified in the City of Tacoma Insurance Requirements contained in this solicitation. Please see requirements for this solicitation in Appendix B.

19. PAID LEAVE

Effective February 1, 2016, the City of Tacoma requires all employers to provide Paid Leave and Minimum Wage, as set forth in Title 18 of the Tacoma Municipal Code. For more information visit http://www.cityoftacoma.org/employmentstandards.

20. PARTNERSHIPS

The City will allow Respondents to partner in order to respond to this RFP. Respondents may team under a Prime Respondent's submittal in order to provide responses to all sections in a single submission; however, each Respondent's participation must be clearly delineated by section. The Prime Respondent will be considered the responding vendor and the responsible party at contract award. Any contract negotiations will be conducted only with the Prime Respondent. All contract payments will be made only to the Prime Respondent. Any agreements between the Prime Respondent and other companies will not be a part of the agreement between the City and the Prime Respondent. The City reserves the right to select more than one Prime Respondent.

21. COMMITMENT OF FIRM KEY PERSONNEL

The Respondent agrees that key personnel identified in its submittal or during contract negotiations as committed to this project will, in fact, be the key personnel to perform during the life of this contract. Should key personnel become unavailable for any reason, the selected Respondent shall provide suitable replacement personnel, subject to the approval of the City. Substantial organizational or personnel changes within the agency are expected to be communicated immediately. Failure to do so could result in cancellation of the Contract. Specific language pertaining to personnel substitution is contained within the sample contract in Appendix A.

22. AWARD

After the Respondent(s) is selected by the SAC and prior to award, all other Respondents will be notified via the Purchasing Division using the email address for communications provided on the signature page.

Once a Respondent(s) has been selected for award by the SAC, contract negotiations will begin. If the a contract with the selected Respondent(s) is not successfully negotiated in that the City's final offer is not accepted, the City may, in its sole discretion discontinue contract

negotiations and commence negotiations with another Respondent. When a contract is successfully negotiated, the Contract will, if required, be submitted for final approval by the Public Utility Board and/or City Council.

23. ENVIRONMENTALLY PREFERABLE PROCUREMENT

In accordance with the City's Sustainable Procurement Policy, it is the policy of the City of Tacoma to encourage the use of products or services that help to minimize the environmental and human health impacts of City Operations. Respondents are encouraged to incorporate environmentally preferable products or services that have a lesser or reduced effect on human health and the environment when compared with competing products or services that serve the same purpose. This comparison may consider raw materials acquisition, products, manufacturing, packaging, distribution reuse, operation, maintenance or disposal of the product or service.

The City of Tacoma encourages the use of sustainability practices and desires any awarded contractor(s) to assist in efforts to address such factors when feasible for:

- Reduction of pollutant releases
- · Toxicity of materials used
- Waste generation
- Greenhouse gas emissions, including transportation of materials and services
- Recycle content
- Comprehensive energy conservation measures
- Waste manage reduction plans
- Potential impact on human health and the environment

24. EQUITY IN CONTRACTING

The City of Tacoma is committed to encouraging firms certified through the <u>Washington State</u> <u>Office of Minority and Women's Business Enterprise</u> to participate in City contracting opportunities. See the **TMC 1.07 Equity in Contracting Policy** at the City's <u>Equity in Contracting Program website</u>.

25. PROPRIETARY OR CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

The Washington State Public Disclosure Act (RCW 42.56 et seq.) requires public agencies in Washington make public records available for inspection and copying unless they fall within the specified exemptions contained in the Act, or are otherwise privileged. Documents submitted under this RFP shall be considered public records and, with limited exceptions, will be made available for inspection and copying by the public.

For complete detail on Respondent's responsibility to identify and mark confidential information, and the applicability of the Public Disclosure Act, see the <u>Standard Terms and Conditions</u>.

26. ADDENDUMS

In the event it becomes necessary to revise any part of this RFP, an addendum will be posted along with this specification on http://www.tacomapurchasing.org. Failure to acknowledge addendum(s) on the required Signature Page may result in a submittal being deemed non-responsive by the City.

APPENDIX A REQUIRED FORMS

SIGNATURE PAGE
CLIENT REFERENCES FORM

SIGNATURE PAGE

CITY OF TACOMA TACOMA PUBLIC UTILITIES/DIRECTORS OFFICE

All submittals must be in ink or typewritten, executed by a duly authorized officer or representative of the bidding/proposing entity, and received and time stamped as directed in the **Request for Proposals** page near the beginning of the specification. If the bidder/proposer is a subsidiary or doing business on behalf of another entity, so state, and provide the firm name under which business is hereby transacted.

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS SPECIFICATION NO. DU22-0210F TEN YEAR MANAGEMENT REVIEW

The undersigned bidder/proposer hereby agrees to execute the proposed contract and furnish all materials, labor, tools, equipment and all other facilities and services in accordance with these specifications.

The bidder/proposer agrees, by submitting a bid/proposal under these specifications, that in the event any litigation should arise concerning the submission of bids/proposals or the award of contract under this specification, Request for Bids, Request for Proposals or Request for Qualifications, the venue of such action or litigation shall be in the Superior Court of the State of Washington, in and for the County of Pierce.

Non-Collusion Declaration

The undersigned bidder/proposer hereby certifies under penalty of perjury that this bid/proposal is genuine and not a sham or collusive bid/proposal, or made in the interests or on behalf of any person or entity not herein named; and that said bidder/proposer has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any contractor or supplier on the above work to put in a sham bid/proposal or any person or entity to refrain from submitting a bid/proposal; and that said bidder/proposer has not, in any manner, sought by collusion to secure to itself an advantage over any other contractor(s) or person(s).

Bidder/Proposer's Registered Name		Signature of into Contra				Date
Address						
		Printed Na	me and Ti	tle		
City, State, Zip						
		(Area Code	e) Telepho	ne Numb	er / Fax Numb	er
Authorized Signatory E-Mail Address						
		State Busii			er siness Identifier) N	Number
E.I.No. / Federal Social Security Number Used on Quarterly Federal Tax Return, U.S. Treasury Dept. Form 941		,	45 02	(0104.24.		
rederal rax Neturn, 0.5. Treasury Dept. Form 941		State Contractor's License Number (See Ch. 18.27, R.C.W.)				
E-Mail Address for Communications						
ddendum acknowledgement #1	#2	#:	3	#4	#5	

THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND RETURNED WITH SUBMITTAL.

Form No. SPEC-080A Revised: 06/01/2021

REFERENCES

Only bidders experienced in this type of work and with a record of successful completion of jobs of similar scope will be considered. Must provide minimum of 3 References

Beginning Date	Completion Date	Customer	Contact Person	Phone #	Amount of Contract/work

APPENDIX B INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

The Contractor (Contractor) shall maintain at least the minimum insurance set forth below. By requiring such minimum insurance, the City of Tacoma shall not be deemed or construed to have assessed the risk that may be applicable to Contractor under this Contract. Contractor shall assess its own risks and, if it deems appropriate and/or prudent, maintain greater limits and/or broader coverage.

1. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

The following General Requirements apply to Contractor and to Subcontractor(s) of every tier performing services and/or activities pursuant to the terms of this Contract. Contractor acknowledges and agrees to the following insurance requirements applicable to Contractor and Contractor's Subcontractor(s):

- 1.1. City of Tacoma reserves the right to approve or reject the insurance provided based upon the insurer, terms and coverage, the Certificate of Insurance, and/or endorsements.
- 1.2. Contractor shall not begin work under the Contract until the required insurance has been obtained and approved by City of Tacoma.
- 1.3. Contractor shall keep this insurance in force during the entire term of the Contract and for Thirty (30) calendar days after completion of all work required by the Contract, unless otherwise provided herein.
- 1.4. Insurance policies required under this Contract that name "City of Tacoma" as Additional Insured shall:
 - 1.4.1. Be considered primary and non-contributory for all claims.
 - 1.4.2. Contain a "Separation of Insured provision and a "Waiver of Subrogation" clause in favor of City of Tacoma.
- 1.5. Section 1.4 above does not apply to contracts for purchasing supplies only.
- 1.6. Verification of coverage shall include:
 - 1.6.1. An ACORD certificate or equivalent.
 - 1.6.2. Copies of all endorsements naming the City of Tacoma as additional insured and showing the policy number.
 - 1.6.3. A notation of coverage enhancements on the Certificate of Insurance shall not satisfy these requirements actual endorsements must be submitted.
- 1.7. Liability insurance policies, with the exception of Professional Liability and Workers' Compensation, shall name the City of Tacoma and its officers, elected officials, employees, agents, and authorized volunteers as additional insured.
 - 1.7.1. No specific person or department should be identified as the additional insured.
 - 1.7.2. All references on certificates of insurance and endorsements shall be listed as "City of Tacoma".
 - 1.7.3. The City of Tacoma shall be additional insured for both ongoing and completed operations using Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CG 20 10 04 13 and CG 20

37 04 13 or the equivalent for the full available limits of liability maintained by the Contractor irrespective of whether such limits maintained by the Contractor are greater than those required by this Contract and irrespective of whether the Certificate of Insurance describes limits lower than those maintained by the Contractor.

- 1.8. Contractor shall provide a Certificate of Insurance for each policy of insurance meeting the requirements set forth herein when Contractor provides the signed Contract for the work to City of Tacoma. Contractor shall provide copies of any applicable Additional Insured, Waiver of Subrogation, and Primary and Non-contributory endorsements. Contract or Permit number and the City Department must be shown on the Certificate of Insurance.
- 1.9. Insurance limits shown below may be written with an excess policy that follows the form of an underlying primary liability policy or an excess policy providing the required limit.
- 1.10. Liability insurance policies shall be written on an "occurrence" form, except for Professional Liability/Errors and Omissions, Pollution Liability, and Cyber/Privacy and Security
- 1.11. If coverage is approved and purchased on a "Claims-Made" basis, Contractor warrants continuation of coverage, either through policy renewals or by the purchase of an extended reporting period endorsement as set forth below.
- 1.12. The insurance must be written by companies licensed or authorized in the State of Washington pursuant to RCW 48 with an (A-) VII or higher in the A.M. Best's Key Rating Guide www.ambest.com.
- 1.13. Contractor shall provide City of Tacoma notice of any cancellation or non-renewal of this required insurance within Thirty (30) calendar days.
- 1.14. Contractor shall not allow any insurance to be cancelled or lapse during any term of this Contract, otherwise it shall constitute a material breach of the Contract, upon which City of Tacoma may, after giving Five (5) business day notice to Contractor to correct the breach, immediately terminate the Contract or, at its discretion, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connection therewith; with any sums so expended to be repaid to City of Tacoma by Contractor upon demand, or at the sole discretion of City of Tacoma, offset against funds due Contractor from City of Tacoma.
- 1.15. Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of all premiums, deductibles and self-insured retentions, and shall indemnify and hold the City of Tacoma harmless to the extent such a deductible or self-insured retained limit may apply to the City of Tacoma as an additional insured. Any deductible or self-insured retained limits in excess of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000) must be disclosed and approved by City of Tacoma Risk Manager and shown on the Certificate of Insurance.
- 1.16. City of Tacoma reserves the right to review insurance requirements during any term of the Contract and to require that Contractor make reasonable adjustments when the scope of services has changed.

- 1.17. All costs for insurance shall be incidental to and included in the unit or lump sum prices of the Contract and no additional payment will be made by City of Tacoma to Contractor.
- 1.18. Insurance coverages specified in this Contract are not intended and will not be interpreted to limit the responsibility or liability of Contractor or Subcontractor(s).
- 1.19. Failure by City of Tacoma to identify a deficiency in the insurance documentation provided by Contractor or failure of City of Tacoma to demand verification of coverage or compliance by Contractor with these insurance requirements shall not be construed as a waiver of Contractor's obligation to maintain such insurance.
- 1.20. If Contractor is a State of Washington or local government and is self-insured for any of the above insurance requirements, a certification of self-insurance shall be attached hereto and be incorporated by reference and shall constitute compliance with this Section.

2. CONTRACTOR

As used herein, "Contractor" shall be the Supplier(s) entering a Contract with City of Tacoma, whether designated as a Supplier, Contractor, Vendor, Proposer, Bidder, Respondent, Seller, Merchant, Service Provider, or otherwise.

3. SUBCONTRACTORS

It is Contractor's responsibility to ensure that each subcontractor obtain and maintain adequate liability insurance coverage. Contractor shall provide evidence of such insurance upon City of Tacoma's request.

4. REQUIRED INSURANCE AND LIMITS

The insurance policies shall provide the minimum coverages and limits set forth below. Providing coverage in these stated minimum limits shall not be construed to relieve Contractor from liability in excess of such limits.

4.1 Commercial General Liability Insurance

Contractor shall maintain Commercial General Liability Insurance policy with limits not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) each occurrence and Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000) annual aggregate. The Commercial General Liability Insurance policy shall be written on an Insurance Services Office form CG 00 01 04 13 or its equivalent. Products and Completed Operations shall be maintained for a period of three years following Substantial Completion of the Work related to performing construction services.

This policy shall include product liability especially when a Contract solely is for purchasing supplies. The Commercial General Liability policy shall be endorsed to include:

A per project aggregate policy limit, using ISO form CG 25 03 05 09 or an equivalent endorsement.

4.2 Commercial (Business) Automobile Liability Insurance

Contractor shall maintain Commercial Automobile Liability policy with limits not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) each accident for bodily injury and property damage and bodily injury

Insurance Requirements
Template Revised 10/3/2019

Spec/Contract Number: DU22-0210F

Page 3 of 4

and property damage coverage for owned (if any), non-owned, hired, or leased vehicles. Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance shall be written using ISO form CA 00 01 or equivalent. Contractor must also maintain an MCS 90 endorsement or equivalent and a CA 99 48 endorsement or equivalent if "Pollutants" are to be transported.

4.3 Workers' Compensation

Contractor shall comply with Workers' Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the State of Washington, as well as any other similar coverage required for this work by applicable federal laws of other states. The Contractor must comply with their domicile State Industrial Insurance laws if it is outside the State of Washington.

4.4 Employers' Liability Insurance

Contractor shall maintain Employers' Liability coverage with limits not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) each employee, One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) each accident, and One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) policy limit.

4.5 Professional Liability Insurance or Errors and Omissions

Contractor and/or its subcontractor shall maintain Professional Liability or Errors and Omissions with limits of One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) per claim and Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000) in the aggregate covering acts, errors and omissions arising out of the professional services under this Contract.

If the policy limit includes the payment of claims or defense costs, from the policy limit, the per claim limit shall be Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000). If the scope of such design-related professional services includes work related to pollution conditions, the Professional Liability policy shall include Pollution Liability coverage. If provided on a "claims-made" basis, such coverage shall be maintained by policy renewals or an extended reporting period endorsement for not less than three years following the end of the Contract.

4.6 Cyber/Privacy and Security Insurance

Contractor shall maintain Cyber Privacy and Security Insurance with coverage of not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000) per claim and Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000) general aggregate that includes, but is not limited to, coverage for first party costs and third-party claims. Coverage shall include loss resulting from data security/privacy breach, unauthorized access, denial of service attacks, introduction of virus and malicious code, network security failure, dissemination or destruction of electronic data, business interruptions, privacy law violation, and disclosure of non-public, personal and confidential information, and failure to disclose breaches as required law or Contract. Coverage shall include notifications and other expenses incurred in remedying a privacy breach as well as costs to investigate and restore data. Coverage shall also include communications liability (e.g., infringement of copyrights, title, slogan, trademark, trade name, trade dress, service mark, or service name in the policy holders covered material).

4.7 Other Insurance

Other insurance may be deemed appropriate to cover risks and exposures related to the scope of work or changes to the scope of work required by City of Tacoma. The costs of such necessary and appropriate Insurance coverage shall be borne by Contractor.

Insurance Requirements Spec/Contract Number: DU22-0210F